THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JAN 16 2019

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000849

Chazmonte Brown,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Dayne C. Phillips, Esq.
Price Benowitz LLP
1614 Taylor Street, Suite D
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 807-0234
Attorney for Petitioner

Other Counsel of Record:
Lindsey A. McCallister
Assistant Attorney General
1000 Assembly Street, Room 519
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 734-3970
Attorney for Respondent

QUESTION PRESENTED

- I. Did the PCR Court err in finding Petitioner voluntarily pled guilty by also finding the prosecutors did not violate *Brady v. Maryland*¹ and Petitioner's due process rights when the prosecutors failed to disclose a deal with a material witness and failed to correct false testimony of that witness at trials against Petitioner's co-defendants before and after his plea hearing?

¹ *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Arrest / Indictment

On December 15, 2008, the Lake City Police Department arrested Chazmonte Brown (Petitioner) for armed robbery. App. 827 – 828. The Police also arrested Petitioner’s co-defendants: Quentin Epps, Montarrio Graham, Latisha Cochran, and Jerry Bush.

On June 4, 2009, the Florence County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for armed robbery and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. App. 829 – 830.

Co-Defendant Latisha Cochran’s Trial

On October 18, 2010, Petitioner’s co-defendant, Latisha Cochran (Cochran), proceeded to trial before the Honorable Michael G. Nettles and a jury. App. 1 – 227. Jesse Cartrette represented Cochran, and Assistant Solicitors Patricia Parr and David Richardson represented the State.

On direct-examination, the State asked co-defendant, Quintin Epps (Epps), “have you been offered anything special to testify here today?” and Epps replied, “No, sir.” App. 116, ll. 23-25. The State then emphasized, “You hadn’t been offered any sort of special plea deal in order for you to testify here today; is that right?” and Epps again responded, “Right”. App. 117, ll. 1-3.

On cross-examination, Cochran’s defense counsel asked Epps, “You said you weren’t offered anything special to testify today?” and Epps replied, “No, sir.” App. 118, ll. 13-15. Cochran’s defense counsel then asked, “Isn’t it true, though, that you anticipate the possibility of a better deal or you wouldn’t be here today?” and Epps reiterated, “No, sir.” App. 118, ll. 16-19. Cochran’s defense counsel continued this line of questioning; “You [have] been offered no deal?” and Epps again responded, “No, sir.” App. 118, ll. 24-25. In the same vein, Epps only

conceded that he hoped to receive a deal from the State for his testimony. App. 119, ll. 1-3; App. 119, l. 24 – 120, l. 2.

Notably, neither of the Assistant Solicitors interjected or clarified co-defendant Epps's responses to these questions. The jury found co-defendant Cochran guilty of armed robbery, and the Trial Court sentenced Cochran to thirteen years imprisonment on October 19, 2010. App. 214, ll. 12-25; App. 226, ll. 10-17.

Petitioner's Plea Hearing After Jury Selection/Opening Statements

On December 15, 2010, Petitioner, along with his co-defendant, Montarrio Graham (Graham), *initially* proceeded to trial before the Honorable Michael G. Nettles and a jury. App. 228 – 291. Karen Parrott represented Petitioner, Scott Floyd represented Graham, and Assistant Solicitors Patricia Parr and David Richardson represented the State. After jury selection and opening statements, co-defendant Epps testified *in camera* that Graham had threatened him indirectly and had directly asked Epps that morning whether he was going to testify. App. 284, l. 6 – 286, 18.

After this *in camera* hearing, Petitioner appeared before Judge Nettles and pled guilty to armed robbery and two counts of distribution of marijuana. App. 291, ll. 3-25; App. 428 – 442. The Plea Court sentenced Petitioner to fifteen years imprisonment for armed robbery and five years imprisonment for each distribution of marijuana conviction. App. 440, ll. 14-25; App. 831. The Court imposed the service of those sentences concurrently. App. 441; App. 831.

Petitioner did not appeal his convictions or sentences.

Co-Defendant Montarrio Graham's Trial

After Petitioner's plea hearing, co-defendant Graham continued with the jury trial. App. 228 – 427. The State asked co-defendant Epps during direct-examination, "have you been

offered any sort of special deal or promise” and Epps replied, “No, sir.” App. 326, ll. 12-14. Graham’s defense counsel also inquired regarding a deal on cross-examination, “Now you said earlier you had no offer for special treatment, is that right?” and Epps again responded, “Right”. App. 343, ll. 12-16. Same as in Cochran’s trial, neither of the Assistant Solicitors interjected or clarified Epps’s answers to these questions.

The State highlighted in its closing argument, “[T]his case, a lot of it depends on [the] credibility of the witnesses.” App. 391, ll. 22-23 (emphasis added). The State further argued in closing: “I submit to you that the Defense will beat up on Quentin Epps during their closing argument because he was the one who’s came before the court and testified”; “[W]e know that you have to make that decision as to who to believe”; and “[W]e will submit to you that Mr. Epps is not a quiet [choir] boy . . . or the eagle scout, but that does not take away from his credibility to tell you what happened on that particular night[.]” App. 391, l. 23 – 393, l. 17 (emphasis added). The jury found Graham guilty as charged, and the Trial Court sentenced him to twenty-two years imprisonment. App. 419, ll. 17-25; App. 425, l. 15 – 426, l. 8.

First PCR Application / Return / Evidentiary Hearing

On May 5, 2011, Petitioner filed his *first* application requesting Post-Conviction Relief (PCR), alleging ineffective assistance of counsel. App. 443 – 452. The State filed its Return to the PCR application on July 11, 2011. App. 453 – 457. Petitioner subsequently appeared before the Honorable William H. Seals for an evidentiary hearing on February 3, 2012. App. 458 – 475. Charles T. Brooks, III, represented Petitioner, and Assistant Attorney General David Spencer represented the State. Petitioner and plea counsel, Karen Parrott, testified at the evidentiary hearing.

Petitioner testified that he pled guilty because “I already knew that [the State] was going to put him on the stand and he was going to fabricate, and at the time I knew one of the – one of my

codefendants already had caught time for the same reason, and I didn't want to take those chances." App. 465, ll. 15-19. Petitioner emphasized during direct examination that he involuntarily pled guilty based on the State's witnesses: "Lack of evidence wasn't presented as the victim said he couldn't identify", "[t]hey had nothing that put me there", "[n]o fingerprints, me on camera", "[n]othing other than a felon said that I did something with him." App. 466, ll. 19-25.

Plea Counsel testified at the hearing, "*The way that this case was prepared for trial was that [Petitioner] had already had one co-defendant who had been tried and convicted and sentenced and that was Latisha Cochran.*" App. 470, ll. 19-23 (emphasis added). Plea Counsel also testified that "*[t]he second person that was involved in this case was actually Quintin Epps, and he was going to testify against [Petitioner].*" App. 470, l. 23 – 471, l. 1 (emphasis added).

After hearing testimony, the PCR Court denied the application. App. 474, ll. 12-13.

First PCR Order of Dismissal

On June 19, 2012, the PCR Court issued an Order of Dismissal, finding Petitioner failed to prove Plea Counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel. App. 476 – 480. Specifically, the PCR Court found Petitioner's allegations that "*his plea was involuntary because his co-defendant was going to testify against him and fabricate testimony*" and "*because another co-defendant was convicted at trial and [he] did not want to meet the same fate*" were not credible. App. 478 – 479 (emphasis added). The PCR Court denied the application, and Petitioner subsequently filed a Notice of Appeal on June 25, 2012. App. 479; App. 481 – 482.

Order Granting Post-Conviction Relief to Co-Defendant Montarrio Graham

On November 6, 2012, the Honorable Thomas Russo granted co-defendant Graham's PCR application. App. 485 – 493. Graham's PCR Court provided the following findings of fact:

For several years, [Graham] has known Quentin Epps. In 2003, [Graham] and Epps were charged as co-defendants in a Burglary.

For that charge, [Graham] gave a statement to law enforcement implicating Epps. Epps was convicted of the burglary charge.

Several years later, Epps was involved in an armed robbery . . . After the robbery, Quentin Epps was seen using one of the stolen credit cards at Wal-Mart. Police questioned Epps who gave a statement. Epps admitted knowing about the robbery, but he tried to deny any involvement in the robbery claiming he was merely present . . . Epps gave the names of several co-defendants that he claimed were also involved in the robbery. Epps claimed that [Graham] was the man carrying a toy pistol during the robbery. No physical evidence was ever collected linking [Graham] to the crime. Epps, [Graham], and three other co-defendants were charged with armed robbery.

Prior to [Graham's] trial the state offered Epps a plea deal in exchange for his testimony against the others. The State promised Epps that they would reduce his armed robbery charge to some other charge if Epps testified against [Graham]. The State did not inform Epps of what his armed robbery would be reduced to. Nevertheless, Epps agreed to testify in order to avoid a mandatory minimum ten year sentence. The State did not disclose this deal to Trial Counsel. If Trial Counsel has known about Epps' deal he would have used it to impeach Epps . . . Because of the lack of physical evidence, the State's case at trial was primarily based on Epps' testimony.

App. 486 – 487 (emphasis added). The PCR Court found “***[t]he State never informed the Court or Trial Counsel that Epps had testified untruthfully***” and that, “[s]everal weeks after [Graham's] trial, the State reduced Epps' armed robbery charge to accessory after the fact.”

App. 488 – 490 (emphasis added). Graham's PCR also found that “[o]n January 24, 2010, Epps pled guilty . . . and received an eighteen month sentence” and that “[Graham] first learned of Epps deal while his appeal was pending.” App. 490.

Graham's PCR Court held that he was entitled to a new trial because the State failed to disclose and correct false testimony. App. 491 – 493. Specifically, “***[Graham's] right to due process was clearly violated by the State's failure to correct known false testimony from Epps***” and “***Mr. Anderson [Epps's lawyer] credibly testified that the State had offered to reduce***

Epps's armed robbery charge in exchange for his testimony." App. 492 (emphasis added). Graham's PCR Court also found, "*The State certainly was aware that Epps was giving false testimony because the State had offered Epps the deal he denied.*" App. 492 (emphasis added). The PCR Court further found that "Mr. Floyd [Graham's lawyer] credibly testified that he was unaware of Epps's deal until after the trial." App. 492.

Notably, Graham's PCR Court found that "[he] has clearly established prejudice in this case" because "*[t]he only evidence linking [Graham] to the crime was the testimony of Epps.*" App. 492 (emphasis added). The PCR Court noted the State's emphasis on the credibility of the witnesses in its closing argument and held "*the State's failure to disclose that Epps gave false testimony was not harmless.*" App. 492 (emphasis added). Therefore, Graham's PCR Court held that he was entitled to a new trial pursuant to *Riddle v. Ozmint*, 369 S.C. 39, 631 S.E.2d 70 (2006), *Napue v. Illinois*, 360 U.S. 264 (1959), and *Giglio v. United States*, 405 U.S. 150 (1972). App. 490 – 493.

***Johnson* Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Review Petitioner's First PCR Action / Order**

On November 14, 2012, Appellate Defender Robert Pachak filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari pursuant to *Johnson v. State*, 294 S.C. 310, 364 S.E.2d 201 (1988), arguing Petitioner involuntarily pled guilty. App. 494 – 503.

On February 7, 2013, this Court denied the Petition and issued a Remittitur on February 25, 2013. App. 504 – 505.

Second PCR Application / Return and Motion to Dismiss / Conditional Order of Dismissal

On April 8, 2013, Petitioner filed a *second* PCR application, alleging after-discovered evidence and prosecutorial misconduct (2013-CP-21-00925). App. 625 – 630. Specifically, Petitioner argued that he "*discovered in November 2012 that Brady information was not*

disclosed to [him]” and that the “*Prosecutor did not disclose my co-defendant’s deal.*” App. 627 (emphasis added). The State filed its Return and Motion to Dismiss on August 15, 2013, arguing Petitioner was successive, barred by the statute of limitations, and failed to satisfy a claim of after-discovered evidence. App. 631 – 636.

On August 19, 2013, the Honorable D. Craig Brown issued a Conditional Order of Dismissal. App. 637 – 642. Specifically, the PCR Court found Petitioner’s application successive, untimely, and failed to state a claim of after-discovered evidence.

Petitioner’s *Pro se* Response / *Pro se* Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings

On September 18, 2013, Petitioner mailed a *pro se* response to the Florence County Clerk of Court, explaining that he did not know about the existence of the after-discovered evidence until November 1, 2012 and that the application is not successive or barred by the statute of limitations. App. 643. Petitioner further argued he “was hindered due to institutional lockdowns from sending this letter within 20 days of receiving [the] notice”. App. 643. Petitioner also enclosed a letter that he received from Tristan Shaffer, Esq., notifying him about the after-discovered evidence issue and potential basis for requesting a new trial. App. 644.

On July 11, 2014, Petitioner filed a *Pro Se* Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, requesting an evidentiary hearing on these issues. App. 645 – 649.

Petitioner’s Motion to Limit the State’s Argument Based on Collateral Estoppel

On May 20, 2016, Petitioner, by and through counsel, submitted a Motion to Limit the State’s Argument Based on Collateral Estoppel. App. 650 – 655. Specifically, Petitioner “move[d] to preclude the State from arguing Quentin Epps did not have a plea deal with the prosecution prior to testifying” based on the doctrine of collateral estoppel. App. 650. Petitioner noted, “In an order dated November 2, 2012, Judge Russo granted Graham’s PCR pursuant to

Napue v. Illinois, 360 U.S. 264 (1959) and *Riddle v. Ozmint*, 369 S.C. 39, 631 S.E.2d 70 (2006).” App. 654. Petitioner further noted, “[o]n December 6, 2012, Graham was informed that the State would not appeal Judge Russo’s decision.” App. 654 (emphasis added).

Petitioner argued that the Order granting Graham’s PCR application precluded the State from re-litigating the issue of whether Quintin Epps made a deal with the State to testify against Petitioner and his co-defendants. App. 654 – 655. Specifically, the State had a full opportunity to cross-examine Hank Anderson [Epps’s lawyer], to call their own witnesses, and to appeal Judge Russo’s Order. App. 655. Petitioner further noted, “Since Judge Russo granted Graham’s PCR solely based on the prosecutorial misconduct [issue], his finding that Epps had a deal was necessary to the prior judgment.” App. 655.

Second Evidentiary Hearing

On June 2, 2016, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Jocelyn Newman for an evidentiary hearing. App. 656 – 676. Tristan Shaffer represented Petitioner, and Assistant Attorney General Croom Hunter represented the State. The State moved for a dismissal, arguing Petitioner’s PCR application is successive, untimely, and failed to state a claim of after-discovered evidence. App. 659, ll. 22-25. The State focused on Petitioner’s decision to plead guilty prior to Epps’s testimony at Graham’s trial and the after-discovered evidence test set forth in *Jamison v. State*, 410 S.C. 456, 765 S.E.2d 123 (2014). App. 669, l. 13 – 671, l. 12; App. 674.

PCR Counsel argued that *McCoy v. State*, 401 S.C. 363, 737 S.E.2d 623 (2013), *Riddle v. Ozmint*, 369 S.C. 39, 631 S.E.2d 70 (2006), and Section 17-27-45(c) of the South Carolina Code of Laws allowed Petitioner to file a second PCR application. App. 662, l. 1 – 663, l. 5; App. 671, ll. 13-19. PCR Counsel further explained that Petitioner is “raising a claim of a *Brady* violation” and that “[Petitioner] didn’t know about that until . . . Mr. Graham won his PCR.” App. 663, ll.

6-17; App. 668, l. 2 – 669, l. 10.

Judge Newman took the matter under advisement and instructed PCR Counsel to submit the relevant portions of Cochran’s trial transcript and any other relevant case law for the Court’s review. App. 675, ll. 7-14.

Order Granting Petitioner’s Motion to Limit the State’s Argument Based on Collateral Estoppel / Order Granting Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss (Second Order of Dismissal)

On September 19, 2016, the Honorable Jocelyn Newman granted Petitioner’s Motion to Limit the State’s Argument based on Collateral Estoppel via a form order. App. 677 – 678.

On December 28, 2016, Judge Newman granted Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss. App. 688 – 695. Notably, the Court examined *“the Order Granting PCR in the Montarrio Graham case; the transcript of the trial of State of South Carolina v. Montarrio Graham; and the transcript of the trial of State of South Carolina v. Latisha Cochran.”* App. 688 (emphasis added).

Judge Newman found Petitioner’s second PCR application barred as successive because the discovery of Epps’s perjured testimony “could have and should have been raised in his first Application for PCR.” App. 692. Judge Newman also found the second PCR application barred as beyond the statute of limitations because “the instant action was not filed until April 8, 2013[.]” App. 693. Judge Newman further found the second PCR application “has not shown this ‘newly discovered evidence’ warrants a new PCR hearing or trial[.]” App. 694.

Petitioner’s First Motion to Alter or Amend / Return

On January 20, 2017, Petitioner submitted the *first* Motion to Alter or Amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC. App. 698 – 700. Petitioner addressed the following issues and argued: (1) The Court failed to adequately rule on the *Brady* violation claim without an evidentiary hearing, citing *McCoy v. State*, 401 S.C. 363, 737 S.E.2d 623 (2013); (2) Petitioner’s second application

was not successive because he was unaware of the *Brady* violation until after the denial of his first application, citing S.C. Code § 17-27-90; (3) Petitioner's second application was not barred by the statute of limitations because he was unaware of the *Brady* violation until after the denial of his first PCR application, citing S.C. Code § 17-27-45(c) and arguing the State's own improper actions in failing to disclose the plea offer caused the delay; and (4) Petitioner's second application is appropriate because of the after-discovered evidence regarding the *Brady* violation, citing *Riddle v. Ozmint*, 369 S.C. 39, 44, 631 S.E.2d 70, 73 (2006) (finding "[i]f a *Brady* violation is found to have occurred, PCR must be granted."). App. 699 – 700.

On February 8, 2017, the State filed its Return to the Motion to Alter or Amend. App. 701 – 704.

Order Granting Petitioner's First Motion to Alter or Amend

On April 20, 2017, the Honorable Jocelyn Newman granted Petitioner's Motion to Alter or Amend and ordered Respondent to schedule an evidentiary hearing on the matter. App. 705 – 706. Notably, Judge Newman limited the scope of the hearing to Petitioner's allegations of a *Brady* violation. App. 705.

Third Evidentiary Hearing

On August 30, 2017, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Thomas Russo for an evidentiary hearing. App. 707 – 798. Tristan Shaffer represented Petitioner, and Assistant Attorney General Lindsey McCallister represented the State. The following witnesses testified at the evidentiary hearing: Plea Counsel, Karen Parrott (App. 714 – 735); Petitioner (App. 737 – 741); Prosecuting Solicitor, David Richardson (App. 742 – 752); and Quentin Epps's lawyer, Hank Anderson (App. 757 – 762).

Petitioner marked the transcript and order granting co-defendant Graham's PCR application

as Court's exhibit number one, and the State entered co-defendant Cochran's trial transcript into evidence as State's exhibit number one. App. 716, ll. 1-22; App. 762, l. 6 – 763, l. 2. After hearing testimony and arguments, Judge Russo took the matter under advisement to review transcripts and applicable case law. App. 797, ll. 15-18.

Third Order of Dismissal

On December 11, 2017, the Honorable Thomas Russo denied Petitioner's *second* application for post-conviction relief. App. 799 – 809. The Court examined "*the Order Granting PCR in the Montarrio Graham case; and the transcript of the PCR evidentiary hearing of Latisha Cochran.*" App. 802 (emphasis added); App. 506 – 624.

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