STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED
MAY 21 2019
S.C. SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO FLORENCE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000849

Chazmonte Lewis Brown,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

LINDSEY A. MCCALLISTER
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar #79054

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The PCR court correctly found no Brady violation because: (1) Epps and the State had not entered into a specific agreement at the time of Epps’s testimony, and counsel for Petitioner and Graham knew the State had made a general offer to help Epps which they could have investigated further, so the State did not fail to disclose any information under Brady; and (2) even if there was a specific deal in place, the existence of such a deal between Epps and the State was not material because it is not reasonably likely to have caused Petitioner to proceed with trial rather than plead guilty.

The PCR court correctly determined there was no Brady violation, and Respondent agrees with Petitioner and the PCR court a “deal” existed between Epps and the State, but only in the general sense that the State rewards cooperation in disposing of a defendant’s charges. However, because the State had not entered into a specific deal with Epps as to what that reward would be at the time of Epps’s testimony, Respondent disagrees with the PCR court’s finding the State had any further obligation of disclosure; the information Petitioner claims was suppressed actually did not exist at the time of Epps’s testimony. Regardless, Petitioner pleaded guilty before Epps testified, so any duty of disclosure under Brady as applied to Petitioner was extinguished by the guilty plea. This Court should therefore deny certiorari, and affirm the decision of the PCR court denying Petitioner relief.

Brady requires the State to disclose evidence in its possession favorable to the accused and material to guilt or punishment. Clark v. State, 315 S.C.385, 388, 434 S.E.2d 266, 268 (1993). Such a claim is complete if the accused can demonstrate (1) the evidence was favorable to the accused, (2) it was in the possession of or known to the prosecution, (3) it was suppressed by the prosecution, and (4) it was material to guilt or punishment. Gibson v. State, 334 S.C. 515, 524, 514 S.E.2d 320, 324 (1999). Under this requirement, “favorable” evidence includes both exculpatory evidence and impeachment evidence. State v. Kennerly, 331 S.C. 442, 453, 503

S.E.2d 214, 220 (Ct. App. 1998). “A Brady violation is material when there is a reasonable probability that, but for the government’s failure to disclose Brady evidence, the defendant would have refused to plead guilty and gone to trial.” Gibson v. State, 334 S.C. 515, 525, 514 S.E.2d 320, 325 (1999).

A. Epps and the State had not entered into a specific agreement at the time of Epps’s testimony, and counsel for Petitioner and Graham knew the State had made a general offer to help Epps which they could have investigated further, so the State did not fail to disclose any information under Brady.

Petitioner alleges the State committed a Brady violation by failing to disclose the existence of a deal to reduce Epps’s charge in exchange for his testimony against Petitioner and Graham. The PCR court correctly found there was no Brady violation, however. No specific deal existed at the time of Epps’s testimony the State did not suppress any information, nor was the existence of a deal – general or specific – material because there were other factors which contributed to Petitioner’s decision to plead guilty. Counsel knew of the existence of general agreement between Epps and the State, and Petitioner’s decision to plead guilty rather than continue his trial was not based solely on Epps’s testimony.

Petitioner likens his situation to that of the defendant in Napue v. Illinois, who was specifically promised a reduction in his one-hundred-ninety-nine-year sentence in exchange for his testimony. 360 U.S. 264, 269 (1959). There, the United States Supreme Court reversed the lower court’s denial of habeas relief finding “a conviction obtained through the use of false evidence, known to be such by representatives of the State, must fall under the Fourteenth Amendment.” Id. at 269. Here, however, the State did not elicit or fail to correct false testimony. Epps denied the State had made any *specific* agreement to reduce his charge or sentence, but admitted he expected some benefit of that nature in exchange for his testimony. App. pp. 326, 343-45. This was truthful testimony, corroborated by other witnesses at the evidentiary hearing.

Counsel, Epps's counsel, and the prosecuting solicitor all testified there was no specific deal with Epps at the time of Graham's trial, although it was common knowledge Epps expected to receive some leniency in exchange for his cooperation. Thus, Petitioner's case is easily distinguishable from Napue.

In Petitioner's case, Counsel testified she was never specifically told Epps had a deal, and she did not confirm he received one until much later. App. pp. 721, 725, 730. However, Counsel also testified the standard practice in Florence County is for the solicitor to agree to "help" a testifying codefendant, but there is generally no specific deal made as to a sentence. App. pp. 724-25, 730-31. Counsel further testified she knew in advance Epps would testify, and she discussed it with Applicant the morning of trial. App. pp. 725-27. Importantly, Counsel testified *she assumed Epps had some kind of offer of help from the State*, and her standard conversation with Applicant would have included a discussion that Epps was likely receiving help on his charges in exchange for his testimony. App. pp. 727-28 (emphasis added). Additionally, Counsel testified even if she had known the specifics of the State's agreement with Epps, it would not have changed her advice to Applicant that he should accept the plea offer. App. p. 728.

Mr. Anderson, Epps's defense attorney, recalled meeting with the Solicitor's Office regarding his client's testimony for the State against Petitioner and Graham. App. p. 758. Mr. Anderson testified the State had already made an offer of ten years, *which was not conditioned on any testimony by Epps*. App. p. 760. Mr. Anderson further testified it was his belief after the meeting that the State would reduce Epps's charge to something other than armed robbery, so Epps could avoid the ten-year mandatory-minimum sentence, but the State did not make any promises

as to a specific sentence or reduced charge.⁴ App. pp. 759-60.

Assistant Solicitor David Richardson, who helped prosecute the cases against Applicant and Graham, also testified at Petitioner's evidentiary hearing. Mr. Richardson attended the meeting about Epps's cooperation between himself, his co-counsel, Epps, and Mr. Anderson. App. pp. 743-44. Mr. Richardson testified both his personal standard practice and that of the Solicitor's Office is to make only a general offer of help in exchange for testimony. App. pp. 744, 746. Mr. Richardson testified he does not make a specific agreement to a certain sentence or a particular charge because it damages the witness's credibility. App. p. 744. Mr. Richardson further testified when a non-specific agreement like this is made, he does not think there is anything to disclose to the defense as *defense counsel would already be aware the witness is cooperating in order to receive help with his or her charges*. App. p. 749 (emphasis added). Finally, Mr. Richardson testified he remembered Epps being asked about a deal, and he felt Epps's testimony was accurate because nothing specific had been promised. App. p. 744.

At Graham's trial, Richardson asked Epps whether he had received a *special* deal in exchange for his testimony, and Epps truthfully answered he had not because, at that time, there was only a general offer of help which is made to all testifying codefendants or cooperating defendants. App. p. 326 (emphasis added). Graham's counsel asked further pointed questions, specifically inquiring whether Epps had been offered a specific deal, which Epps again truthfully denied. App. p. 345. However, Epps also admitted he had not yet been tried or pleaded guilty, and he expected to receive some benefit in resolving his case in exchange for his cooperation. App. pp.

⁴ Similarly, in Cochran's PCR, Mr. Anderson testified he and Epps met with the solicitors, and they "expected" Epps's charges to be reduced in exchange for his continued cooperation, but there was no specific agreement as to what the reduction in charge or sentence would be. App. pp. 525-28.

344-45. Graham's counsel also pointed out the lowest amount of time Epps could get for his current charges of armed robbery was ten years. App. p. 343.

This exchange, when combined with the testimony from Counsel, Anderson, and Richardson as to the parties' knowledge of the State's usual practice of helping testifying codefendants, clearly refutes Petitioner's claim the State suppressed the existence of a specific deal with Epps.⁵ Counsel for Petitioner and Graham were aware of the State's practice to offer to help codefendants who cooperated with the State, Graham's counsel cross-examined Epps about that arrangement and pointed out his current charge carried a mandatory minimum sentence, and Epps testified truthfully that no specific agreement had been made but he expected some consideration for his testimony. Epps was present on the morning of trial, and counsel for Petitioner could have spoken to Epps' attorney to obtain more detail about the agreement, as she knew some general deal existed. See United States v. Frank, 11 F.Supp.2d 322, 327 (S.D.N.Y. 1988) ("Evidence, even if exculpatory and material, is not required to be disclosed, however, if the defendant knows or should have known of 'the essential facts permitting him to take advantage of any exculpatory evidence. . . .' The Government is required, however, to disclose sufficient information to the defendant to insure that the defendant will not be denied access to exculpatory evidence *known only to the Government.*") (quoting United States v. Zackson, 6 F.3d 911, 918 (2d Cir. 1993)) (emphasis added). However, her testimony makes clear such detail was irrelevant to the advice she gave Petitioner to accept the plea instead of continuing with trial, and Petitioner knew Epps had a deal of some sort at the time he made his decision. App. pp. 726-28.

⁵ Counsel for Petitioner conceded as much at the PCR hearing, arguing, "Although it's not specific, I believe... the State will still be obligated to disclose that evidence to the defense. . . ." App. pp. 763-64.

Additionally, even if the State was under some obligation of further disclosure, it was under no obligation to do so until Epps actually testified. See Frank, 11 F.Supp.2d at 325 (“Provided the defendant has sufficient time after receipt of [impeachment] material to use it effectively at trial, there is no violation of the defendant’s rights from deferring production of this material until closer to the time of the witnesses’ testimony.”). Crucially, Petitioner chose to plead guilty prior to Epps’s testimony, distinguishing his case from his codefendant Graham. The Constitution does not require the government to disclose *impeachment* information prior to entering a plea agreement with a defendant because impeachment information is related to the right to a fair trial, which a defendant waives upon entering a plea agreement, rather than the voluntariness of the plea. United States v. Ruiz, 536 U.S. 622, 628-29 (2002) (emphasis added).

Thus, Petitioner failed to offer any evidence of a Brady violation. While Epps clearly expected some benefit in exchange for his testimony, that information was known by counsel for Petitioner and discussed by her and Petitioner prior to Petitioner’s decision to stop his trial and plead guilty. Furthermore, Epps was cross-examined on the issue during Graham’s trial and testified truthfully there was no specific deal in place, although he expected to receive a benefit in exchange for his cooperation. This is the same information Petitioner already had. Because the State did not suppress information regarding a deal with Epps, and in any event, Petitioner pleaded guilty before further disclosure was arguably required, the PCR court therefore correctly found the State did not violate its obligations under Brady and denied relief. App. p. 826. In turn, this Court should deny certiorari and affirm the decision of the PCR court.

B. Even if there was a specific deal in place, the existence of such a deal between Epps and the State was not material because it is not reasonably likely to have caused Petitioner to proceed with trial rather than plead guilty.

Petitioner testified if he had known the specifics of Epps's deal at the time his trial began, he would have continued with the trial so Counsel could cross-examine Epps on the issue. App. pp. 740-41. However, Petitioner also tellingly explained he decided to plead guilty when he found out Epps *and another inmate* would testify against him because he was afraid they would fabricate their testimony. App. pp. 738 (emphasis added). At Petitioner's first PCR hearing, he testified he pleaded guilty because he was concerned what the inmate would say. App. pp. 499-500. Counsel explained in addition to Epps, the State also listed Epps's girlfriend, law enforcement, and several other people as potential witnesses. App. p. 717. Indeed, the transcript of Graham's trial reflects the victim, the neighbor, and law enforcement testified in addition to Epps.⁶ Counsel further testified Petitioner was being tried on multiple drug charges in addition to the armed robbery, and the State agreed to negotiated, concurrent sentences on the possession charges and dismissed the more serious distribution charges, which also influenced Petitioner's decision to plead guilty. App. pp. 721, 728-29.

This candid testimony from Petitioner – that it was the prospect of multiple witnesses testifying against him which prompted him to negotiate a plea agreement – defeats his self-serving contention he would have continued with his trial had he known about a deal with Epps. Petitioner knew Epps would testify in exchange for some kind of reduction in his charge and/or sentence, and it was not just Epps's testimony which concerned Petitioner. See, e.g., State v. Von Dohlen,

⁶ The State did not call an inmate to testify during the trial, and the record does not reflect why. App. pp. 228-427. However, Petitioner's own undisputed testimony at both of his PCR hearings was that he expected another witness in addition to Epps. App. pp. 499-500, 738. It was the prospect of *both* witnesses testifying against him that caused him to rethink his decision to proceed with trial. App. pp. 738 (emphasis added).

322 S.C. 234, 471 S.E.2d 689 (1996) (finding no Brady violation where the impeachment evidence the State allegedly failed to disclose was cumulative to other testimony and therefore not reasonably likely to change the outcome of the proceeding). Similarly, during Graham's trial, Epps was thoroughly cross-examined as to the benefit he could receive from testifying for the State and was impeached on his potential bias. It strains credulity to believe Petitioner would have changed his mind about proceeding with trial simply because he knew the exact terms of Epps's agreement with the State because such evidence was of limited impeachment value when Epps had already been impeached on his motivation for testifying. See, e.g., State v. Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. 526, 553-554, 552 S.E.2d 300, 314-315 (2001) (finding the nondisclosure of evidence did not deprive Cheeseboro of a fair trial where the evidence had limited impeachment value and the witness was thoroughly impeached with other evidence); Duncan v. State, 281 S.C. 435, 439, 315 S.E.2d 809, 811 (1984) (finding a failure by the solicitor to disclose impeachment evidence was not a material Brady violation and did not require reversal where the witness had nonetheless been impeached through prior convictions).

Epps was merely one factor in Petitioner's decision to plead guilty rather than continue with his trial. Even if the State withheld information about the extent of its promises to Epps, such information was not material under the standard articulated in Gibson⁷ because that information alone was not reasonably likely to cause Petitioner to decline to plead guilty, so the PCR court correctly found the State did not violate Brady by failing to disclose it. Accordingly, this Court should deny certiorari and affirm the decision of the PCR court denying relief.

⁷ Petitioner asserts the Gibson standard should not apply in his case because it is of a different class of Brady violation than the violation in that case. As discussed above, however, because the State did not elicit or fail to correct false testimony, the PCR court correctly applied Gibson to the facts of Petitioner's case.